IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

VS.

J. STEVEN HUNTER,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org Kristin P. Halkias [Bar No. 7167] Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel khalkias@wvodc.org Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel West Virginia Judicial Tower, Suite 1200 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile



No. 22-0123

TABL	LE OF AUTHORITIES	iii

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION</u> OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Formal charges were filed against J. Steven Hunter (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (hereinafter "Supreme Court") on or about February 10, 2022, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Supreme Court Clerk on February 22, 2022. Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about March 14, 2022. Respondent requested and was granted an extension to file his Answer to the Statement of Charges, and the same was filed on or about May 2, 2022. Respondent failed to provide his mandatory discovery, which was due on or before April 29, 2022. Disciplinary Counsel then filed a Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses And/or Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors on June 14, 2022. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee granted this motion at the telephonic prehearing held on July 12, 2022, with the exception that Respondent could call DéEtta Hunter¹ as a witness, could call any witness listed in the Disciplinary Counsel's list of witnesses, and could offer his own testimony as to any mitigating factors.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Lewisburg, West Virginia, on August 9, 2022. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Nicole A. Cofer, Esquire, Chairperson;² Charles R. Steele, Esquire; and Mrs. Rachel Scudiere Jones, Layperson. Kristin P. Halkias, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel. Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS heard testimony from DéEtta Hunter, Judge Robert A. Irons, Peggy Patterson, Leigh Boggs Lefler, Denise Pettijohn, Darrell W.

¹ Respondent's wife and legal assistant/office manager.

² Mr. Steele served as Chairperson at the hearing because Ms. Cofer was unable to attend in-person.

McCallister, Stephen L. Peters and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-21 and Respondent's Exhibit 1 were admitted into evidence without objection.

On the day Proposed Findings were due, Respondent requested an extension, and the HPS granted a thirty-day (30) extension to November 4, 2022. ODC timely submitted its seventy-four (74) page Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Sanctions to the HPS on November 4, 2022. The Respondent submitted his four (4) page Proposed Findings of Fact on November 8, 2022.

On or about January 6, 2023, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent violated Rules 1.5(b), 1.7(a)(1), 1.9(a), 1.15(c), 3.4(c), 4.2, 5.3(c)(1), 5.3(c)(2), 8.4(c) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct (hereinafter "RPC"). The HPS issued the following recommendations as the appropriate sanction:

- A. That Respondent's law license be suspended for a period of one (1) year pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure;
- B. That Respondent complete an additional nine (9) hours of continuing legal education prior to reinstatement, during the current reporting period, three (3) hours of which should be in IOLTA accounts and the other six (6) hours in the area of ethics and office management;
- C. That Respondent must comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure;
- D. That Respondent be permitted to Petition the Court for Reinstatement following one (1) year suspension pursuant to Rule 3.32, provided the above sanctions are satisfied;
- E. That following Reinstatement, if any, the Respondent shall be placed on one (1) year supervised probation; and

F. That Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. J. Steven Hunter (hereinafter "Respondent") is a lawyer practicing in Lewisburg, which is located in Greenbrier County, West Virginia. Respondent, having diploma privilege, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on May 22, 1973. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.

COUNT I I.D. No. 20-06-037 Complaint of Stephen L. Peters

2. Complainant Stephen L. Peters is the son of Raymond Peters (hereinafter "Mr. Peters"), an elderly person, now deceased.³ Mr. Peters lived alone on his own property in Alderson, West Virginia, while his three adult children lived outside West Virginia. Complainant lives in Arizona [ODC Ex. 1 at 12; Hrg. Tr. p. 241].

3. Karen Bordonaro (hereafter "Ms. Bordonaro") was Mr. Peters' friend who lived on Mr. Peters' property in a house he built for her use [Hrg. Tr. p. 247].

4. In late 2017, Mr. Peters began experiencing memory lapses and confusion, and Ms. Bordonaro shared this information with Complainant via friendly email exchanges in which she occasionally expressed frustration. The emails included discussion regarding the disposition of Mr. Peters' property should something happen to him, as well as Mr. Peters' wishes concerning Ms. Bordonaro's continued care [ODC Ex. 8 at 424-440).

³ Raymond Peters died on November 23, 2020, during the ODC investigation of the complaint.

5. Mr. Peters granted Complainant medical power of attorney on January 26, 2018, with Ms. Bordonaro listed as his successor representative. On that same date, Mr. Peters signed a Living Will and General Durable Power of Attorney listing Complainant as his Agent [ODC Ex. 8 at 348-354]

6. In July 2018, communication between Ms. Bordonaro and Complainant became strained. Additionally, Complainant observed several social media posts made by Ms. Bordonaro discussing plans to relocate to Rhode Island, and Mr. Peters informed Complainant that he planned to sell the property in Alderson and move with Ms. Bordonaro to Rhode Island. In response, Complainant informed Ms. Bordonaro that he planned to visit Alderson on August 17, 2018, to discuss the situation [ODC Ex. 8 at 442-455; Hrg. Tr. pp. 256-257].

On August 16,2018, Ms. Bordonaro and Mr. Peters were married by the Honorable Jennifer
 L. Dent, Chief Judge of the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County, prior to Complainant's arrival in
 West Virginia [ODC Ex. 1 at 14].

8. On August 17, 2018, Complainant, in his capacity as Agent and General Power of Attorney for Mr. Peters, prepared a quitclaim deed granting to himself and Darrell McCallister, a longtime friend and neighbor of Mr. Peters who helped with caring for the land, a one-half undivided interest in Mr. Peters' property. Mr. McCallister later became Complainant's West Virginia proxy [ODC Ex. 1 at 14]

9. Marilyn Glaser, M.D., a physician at Alderson Family Medicine, performed an evaluation of Mr. Peters on August 29, 2018, wherein she determined Mr. Peters suffered from vascular dementia resulting in cognitive impairment which created an inability for him to handle his own affairs [ODC Ex. 6 at 150-157]. Dr. Glaser's report indicated the condition was considered

4

permanent and progressive, and she recommended that a guardian and conservator be appointed to care for Mr. Peters' affairs [ODC Ex. 6 at 150-157].

10. Local attorney David Hammond had prepared a Durable Power of Attorney for Mr. Peters on September 14, 2018, revoking the previous Power of Attorney appointing Complainant as Agent [ODC Ex. 6 at 69]. Mr. Hammond recommended they contact Respondent for further representation [ODC Ex. 6 at 69].

11. Complainant filed an Emergency Petition for Guardianship on September 11, 2018, refiled by his attorney, Denise Pettijohn, on September 17, 2018, making the following allegations:

- A. Mr. Peters had vascular dementia and was unable to make informed decisions on his own behalf;
- B. Ms. Bordonaro had convinced Mr. Peters to marry him for "convenience" to ensure she would receive his pension and Social Security upon his death;
- C. Ms. Bordonaro had planned to sell Mr. Peters' property and leave West Virginia;
- D. Ms. Bordonaro had stopped communicating with Complainant regarding Mr. Peters' condition; and,
- E. Ms. Bordonaro did not properly perform caregiver tasks, such as maintaining Mr. Peters' personal hygiene or taking care of his medical issues [Hrg. Tr. pp. 180-182].

12. Dr. Jesse Chaffin, M.D. met with Mr. Peters on October 3, 2018, and concluded that Mr. Peters "demonstrates full mental capacity" [ODC Ex. 6 at 97-99]. At the time of the meeting, Mr. Peters reported to Dr. Chaffin that he did not suffer any major lapses in memory or judgment, never left a stove on or unattended, never got lost trying to return home from the grocery store or other nearby locations, had not forgotten how to balance a checkbook or pay bills, could state his name, date, location, and POTUS, and possessed good situational awareness [ODC Ex. 6 at 97-99].

13. An emergency hearing was held on October 5, 2018, wherein Complainant was appointed Mr. Peters' temporary Guardian/Conservator, and Leigh M. Lefler was appointed as Mr. Peters' temporary guardian *ad litem* [ODC Exhibit 8 at 386-389].

14. Respondent encountered Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro while they were in the waiting area of the courthouse that day [ODC Ex. 6 at 68].

15. Respondent found Mr. Peters to be "obviously agitated" at his sons who were with him at the courthouse that day, and Respondent observed a portion of the emergency hearing [ODC Ex. 6 at 68-69]. According to Respondent, his representation of Ms. Bordonaro and Mr. Peters began soon thereafter when Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro sought legal representation regarding the outcome of the Conservator hearing [ODC Ex. 6 at 68-69].

16. Respondent did not confirm the scope of his representation of Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro, or the basis or rate of the fee and expenses for which Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro would be responsible, in writing [ODC Ex. at 584; Hrg. Tr. pp. 306-313].

17. Respondent charged Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro a flat fee of \$2,500.00 for his representation of them [ODC Ex. at 584; Hrg. Tr. pp. 32-34].

18. Mr. Peters wrote a check for the \$2,500.00 fee that was never cashed by Respondent. The uncashed check remains at Respondent's office [Hrg. Tr. pp. 32-33].

19. After the initial meeting with Respondent, Ms. Bordonaro paid him the \$2,500.00 flat fee in two separate checks [Hrg. Tr. p. 33.

20. The \$2,500.00 payment was deposited into the law office checking account and not the trust account by DéEtta Hunter (hereafter "Mrs. Hunter"), Respondent's wife, who works as an office manager in Respondent's law office [Hrg. Tr. p. 34].

6

21. On November 16, 2018, Respondent filed a *Motion to Terminate Conservatorship and Guardianship* in Summers County Circuit Court on behalf of Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro. The Motion alleged that:

- A. Complainant improperly removed \$121,000.00 from Mr. Peters' account on October 4, 2018, at a time his Power of Attorney was revoked upon the execution of the September 14, 2018, Power of Attorney [ODC Exhibit 8 at 386-389]);
- B. Mr. Peters' funds were frozen following the temporary Order entered after the October 5, 2018 hearing, preventing Mr. Peters from having funds for paying bills, buying groceries, etc., and the situation was only remedied upon intervention of the guardian *ad litem* on November 9, 2018;
- C. Ms. Bordonaro, as Mr. Peters' wife, was the best person to be named Conservator as she had been assisting him with his care for years; and,
- D. Complainant was not a suitable Conservator or Guardian. [ODC Ex. 6 at 78-84].

22. Amelia Winsby, Psy.D, Licensed Psychologist, performed a forensic psychological evaluation of Mr. Peters on December 17, 2018, and completed a 24-page report on January 10, 2019.⁴ Dr. Winsby diagnosed Mr. Peters with Possible Major Neurocognitive Disorder due to Alzheimer's, without Behavioral Disturbance, and opined that Mr. Peters would have problems related to living alone. He was found to have a significant decline in memory across all indexes, and his auditory, visual, immediate, and delayed memory abilities were impaired. Dr. Winsby concluded that Mr. Peters met the requirements of being a protected person within the definition of West Virginia Code §44A-1-4, and she recommended the Court appoint a Guardian/Conservator for him. Dr. Winsby also recommended the Court examine the validity of Mr. Peters' marriage

⁴ Dr. Winsby was tragically killed in a car accident on April 3, 2020.

certificate from August 2018, given his significant cognitive impairment at that time. Dr. Winsby recommended the Guardian work with DHHR to ensure Mr. Peters' living situation was safe and appropriate [ODC Ex. 1 at 9-32].

23. On March 18, 2019, Ms. Lefler submitted to the Court a *Report of the Guardian Ad Litem*, wherein she found:

- A. Mr. Peters granted Complainant a durable power of attorney on or about January 26, 2018.
- B. Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro were married on August 16, 2018, but lived in separate residences on Mr. Peters' property.
- C. Ms. Bordonaro was a convicted felon who served time in prison in Alderson.
- D. Throughout her evaluations, Mr. Peters expressed his desire to sell his assets and travel with Ms. Bordonaro to Rhode Island.
- E. On August 18, 2018, Mr. Peters granted to Complainant and a neighbor, Mr. McCallister, a one-half undivided interest in his real property, allegedly to prevent Ms. Bordonaro from having an interest in the property because Mr. Peters did not trust her.
- F. On September 14, 2018, a second power of attorney was executed by Mr. Peters, this one granting power of attorney to Ms. Bordonaro.
- G. At the temporary hearing held on October 5, 2018, Ms. Bordonaro was present in the lobby of the courthouse, but did not enter the courtroom. The guardian *ad litem* requested the bailiff ask Ms. Bordonaro if she desired to be present and Ms. Bordonaro declined.
- H. Mr. Peters reported to Ms. Lefler that his mind had become a "leaky cauldron," and he appeared confused and frustrated as to the nature of the court proceeding.
- I. Ms. Lefler visited Mr. Peters at his home in January 2019, and he did not recall meeting her previously. The home was cluttered and dusty, but there was plenty of food, heat and running water. Although he appeared to not have bathed in several days, Mr. Peters seemed to be in good physical health. He reported it had been "a while" since he had seen his wife, and he was frustrated with his inability to express his thoughts accurately.

- J. Ms. Lefler reviewed the financial disclosures and medical reports and recommended the Court find Mr. Peters to be a protected person within W. Va. Code §44A-2-8, and that a guardian/conservator be appointed.
- K. Ms. Lefler recommended Complainant be allowed to continue in his role as guardian and conservator based on his qualifications, and that she would not recommend Ms. Bordonaro based upon the limitations placed upon her due to her felony conviction record. [ODC Ex. 1 at 3-8]

24. At the March 25, 2019 hearing, Dr. Winsby testified about her evaluation of Mr. Peters, and the Court deemed her an expert in the field of Forensic Psychology and Neuropsychology. Dr. Winsby reported that Mr. Peters' memory problems were documented as far back as 2017, based upon emails and records she reviewed during her evaluation, and caused her to question the validity of the marriage certificate from August 2018. Dr. Winsby testified that Mr. Peters suffered from a major cognitive disorder and qualified as a protected person within the West Virginia Code standard. Dr. Winsby noted that although Mr. Peters denied having memory problems, the testing showed that he had significant impairment. She questioned the validity of all the documents executed by Mr. Peters after mid-2017, including both Durable Powers of Attorney from 2018, as well as the Quitclaim Deed from August 2018. Dr. Winsby testified that Dr. Chaffin's October 2018 conclusions were based mostly upon an interview, versus formal testing, and were not very reliable [ODC Ex. 6 at 187-206].

25. During the March 25, 2019 hearing, the Honorable Robert A. Irons, Judge for the 21st Judicial Circuit, issued a declarative ruling from the bench that Mr. Peters was a protected person pursuant to West Virginia Code §44A-1-4. Complainant was named full Guardian and Conservator, and Leigh M. Lefler, Esquire, was appointed as Mr. Peters' full guardian *ad litem*. Both Ms. Bordonaro and Respondent were present at this hearing [ODC Ex. 6 at 275-276; Hrg. Tr. pp. 87-88].

26. The parties agreed that Mr. Peters was to receive a \$300 monthly cash allowance for spending money since his bills were paid online by Complainant, his Conservator. Anything above that amount required approval by Complainant prior to the withdrawal or purchase [Hrg. Tr. pp. 147-148].

27. Due to various technical delays, the Court did not enter the Order from the March 25, 2019 hearing until July 11, 2019 [ODC Ex. 8 at 390-394; Hrg. Tr. p. 186].

28. On or about June 18, 2019, without Complainant's knowledge, authorization, or permission, Mrs. Hunter assisted Mr. Peters as he withdrew \$5,000.00 from his Discover Savings account and gave the check to Respondent. The check was made out to "Steve Hunter Associates L.C.", and "Legal Services/Retainer" was listed in the Memo portion [ODC Ex. 8 at 459; Hrg. Tr. pp. 50-53].

29. Mrs. Hunter assisted Mr. Peters when he contacted Discover Bank to request the \$5,000.00 for legal services in June 2019. The call was made on speakerphone from Respondent's law office. Mrs. Hunter participated in the call and indicated to the Discover agent they were calling from Respondent's law office [Hrg. Tr. pp. 50-52].

30. Mrs. Hunter considered the \$5,000.00 to be fees for the purpose of Respondent's continued representation. This was an additional payment above the \$2,500.00 flat fee already paid a few months earlier by Ms. Bordonaro [Hrg. Tr. pp. 54-55].

31. Respondent did not communicate a change in fee in writing to Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro [Hrg. Tr. p. 55].

32. The \$5,000.00 Discover check for legal services/retainer was given to Mrs. Hunter, who deposited it on or about July 10, 2019, into the regular law office account, and not the IOLTA/client trust account [ODC Ex. 8 at 459; Hrg. Tr. p. 56].

33. A hearing upon Mr. Peters' Restated Motion to Terminate Conservatorship and Guardianship and Notice of Intent to Appeal, filed by Respondent in August 2019, was held on September 6, 2019, before Judge Irons. Complainant and the guardian *ad litem* were present, but neither Respondent nor Ms. Bordonaro were in attendance. Respondent initially claimed to not have known the hearing was set for September 6, 2019, but admitted under oath on November 8, 2019, that he had received the email notification of the hearing date and time [ODC Ex. 6 at 291-292; ODC Ex. 8 at 481].

34. The Order from the September 6, 2019 hearing, which was issued on September 27, 2019, held that Respondent's motion "seeks to relitigate the issues decided by the Court at the hearing on March 25, 2019, and reflected in the Order Appointing Guardian and Conservator entered July 11, 2019." Additionally, the Order further held:

- A. The motion was filed beyond the statutorily prescribed time of thirty (30) days for notice of appeal, and Respondent's motion was ultimately denied;
- B. Complainant was given leave to file for divorce on behalf of Mr. Peters pursuant to W.Va. Code §48-5-202, as Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro had lived separate and apart since their marriage began;
- C. That "there is a direct conflict pursuant to Rule 1.7 of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct of [Respondent's] representation of both Karen Bordonaro and Raymond S. Peters, as their interests are directly adverse;"
- E. The Court further enjoined Ms. Bordonaro from "in any way dissipating, damaging, disposing, or encumbering any part of the estate" or any financial account of Mr. Peters;
- F. Ms. Bordonaro was ordered by the Court to have no contact with Mr. Peters;
- G. Respondent was ordered to return the \$5,000 retainer fee; and
- H. Ms. Bordonaro was ordered to reimburse Mr. Peters the \$656.06 purchase she made using Mr. Peters' credit card without prior permission from the conservator [ODC Ex. 8 at 397-400].

35. Respondent filed a *Motion for Emergency Stay of Judgement* on behalf of Ms. Bordonaro in September 2019.⁵ The Motion stated that Ms. Bordonaro was the legal wife of Mr. Peters and had been his sole caretaker for many years, but was prohibited from having any contact with Mr. Peters at the September 6, 2019 hearing, and that Mr. Peters would be at serious health risk given that he had no transportation and lived in a remote area. It further stated that the Order "was done on an *ex parte* basis" when Respondent failed to appear at the September 6, 2019 hearing. Respondent stated within the Motion that the hearing notice was incorrect [ODC Ex. 1 at 41-46].

36. The Motion for Stay was denied by Order entered October 17, 2019 [ODC Ex. 1 at 45-46].

37. A Petition for Show Cause Order and/or Protective Order Preventing Financial *Exploitation* was filed by Ms. Lefler, Mr. Peters' guardian *ad litem*, in the Circuit Court of Summers County on October 29, 2019. The Petition alleged that:

- A. Ms. Lefler was notified by Mr. McCallister, Complainant's WV proxy, that Mrs. Hunter had entered Mr. Peters' home and denied entry to Mr. McCallister, stating that Mr. Peters was not dressed. The Petition stated that Mrs. Hunter claimed to be there for a wellness check as a friend to Mr. Peters;
- B. Mrs. Hunter, as wife to Ms. Bordonaro's attorney, is an agent and/or proxy for Ms. Bordonaro, and that her contact was in direct violation of the Final Order for the September 6, 2019 hearing, which directed Ms. Bordonaro to not have contact with Mr. Peters;
- C. Despite being ordered to return the \$5,000 retainer fee, Respondent had not done so, and that he was instead using that money to fund a baseless appeal filed before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals after Respondent failed to appear at a hearing for which all parties received adequate notice;
- D. Ms. Lefler alleged that Mrs. Hunter continued to travel to financial institutions with Mr. Peters to withdraw funds despite the Court ruling that Mr. Peters was a protected person;
- E. Mrs. Hunter had entered Mr. Peters' home as late as October 26, 2019;

⁵ Although Respondent's Motion is dated August 9, 2019, it was filed after the September 6, 2019 hearing.

- F. Respondent was aware of the Court's ruling and that he and his wife engaged in conduct regarding Mr. Peters that was in direct violation of the Court's directives;
- G. Respondent was in direct violation of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct;
- H. Respondent, Ms. Bordonaro, and Mrs. Hunter engaged in the financial exploitation of Mr. Peters;
- I. Ms. Lefler requested the Court issue a show cause order as to why Ms. Bordonaro and/or her counsel should not be found to be in contempt of the Court's Order for the September 6, 2019 hearing, and that the Court enter a financial exploitation protective order [ODC Ex. 1 at 49-55].

38. Mrs. Hunter is Respondent's wife having been married in 1979. She has worked in Respondent's law office with and without pay and served as a legal assistant/office manager. Respondent admits that Mrs. Hunter developed a close personal relationship with Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro, which lead to too much involvement and concern for the alleged lack of care of Mr. Peters at the end of his life.

39. By correspondence dated October 29, 2019, Complainant's counsel, Denise N. Pettijohn, sent a letter to Respondent regarding the unauthorized contact between Mrs. Hunter and Mr. Peters despite an order of no contact in place between them. The letter reminded Respondent that the Court found a conflict of interest in Respondent's representation of Ms. Bordonaro and Mr. Peters, and reaffirmed that Respondent did not represent Mr. Peters, as he had a guardian *ad litem* appointed for him, as well as a Guardian/Conservator. The letter also demanded Respondent and his staff cease and desist from any and all communication with Complainant pursuant to Rule 4.2 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, as Complainant was a represented party. It further cautioned that Complainant would be forced to seek a protective order against Respondent and his staff if they failed to cease and desist all contact with Mr. Peters [ODC Ex. 1 at 47-48].

40. No further contact was made by Mrs. Hunter with Mr. Peters after the incident at his home wherein Mr. McCallister had asked her to leave on October 26, 2019. Respondent said he admonished Mrs. Hunter upon learning that she had visited the home of Mr. Peters without seeking the approval or consent of those entrusted with his care. For her part, Mrs. Hunter admitted to being concerned about Mr. Peters' physical and emotional well-being.

41. On November 8, 2019, a hearing was held before Judge Irons regarding the Amended Verified Petition for Show Cause Order and/or Protective Order Preventing Financial Exploitation, filed by the guardian ad litem. [ODC Ex. 8 at 463-517] Respondent was present and requested that he be permitted to testify in the matter. Respondent testified that:

- A. He had been unaware of the September 6, 2019 hearing until he ran into the judge at the courthouse the following Monday, September 9, 2019, and realized the hearing had been conducted in his and Ms. Bordonaro's absences;
- B. He acknowledged that electronic notice was sent to his correct email address with the proper date and time of the hearing;
- C. He was the retained attorney for both Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro;
- D. Respondent admitted receiving the \$5,000.00 as a retainer for representing both Mr. Peters and Ms. Bordonaro, and that the money was "not likely" to have been deposited into his trust account;
- E. Mrs. Hunter had visited Mr. Peters' home on several occasions, and that she had grown fond of Mr. Peters;
- F. Respondent admitted to having knowledge of Mrs. Hunter's presence at financial institutions with Mr. Peters "regarding requests for withdrawals of cash";
- G. Respondent indicated he would willingly return the \$5,000.00 retainer if ordered by the Court⁶ [ODC Ex. 8 at 463-517].
- 42. The Order for the hearing of November 8, 2019, issued on November 18, 2019, held:

⁶ Respondent had been ordered to return the \$5,000.00 at the September 6, 2019, hearing, and this was reflected in the September 27, 2019 Order, which was sent via email to all parties.

- A. Complainant, who was Guardian/Conservator at the time of the transactions, had not authorized Respondent to transfer the money from Mr. Peters' Discover account;
- B. Complainant had not authorized Mrs. Hunter to visit Mr. Peters' home;
- C. Complainant had not authorized Mrs. Hunter to make withdrawals of cash for Mr. Peters at a bank;
- D. Ms. Bordonaro had improperly accessed Mr. Peters' credit cards for her personal use without authorization from Complainant;
- E. Respondent's representation "happened at a time after Mr. Peters had been declared to be a protected person," and Respondent denied "awareness as to whether this would constitute a conflict of interest;"
- F. Respondent and Ms. Bordonaro "engaged in the financial exploitation of Raymond Peters within the meaning of W.Va. Code §55-7J-1";
- G. Both Respondent and Ms. Bordonaro were held in contempt;
- H. Respondent and Ms. Bordonaro were ordered to "immediately reimburse" Mr. Peters for the \$5,000.00 retainer fee paid to Respondent, and for the cost of the tires purchased by Ms. Bordonaro.
- I. Respondent, Mrs. Hunter, and Ms. Bordonaro were enjoined from having contact with Mr. Peters until further Order of the Court. This included entering Mr. Peters' residence, any electronic or telephonic communication, and/or any direct or indirect attempts of communication [ODC Ex. 8 at 416-420].

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