## LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD PETITIONER

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

V

Case Number 22-0123

J. STEVEN HUNTER

RESPONDENT

# **BRIEF OF J. STEVEN HUNTER**

J. Steven Hunter, Pro Se WVSB 1826 Steve Hunter Associates, L.C. 921 Court Street N. Lewisburg, WV 24901 vet345@hotmail.com 304-645-4622

#

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

An action that would lead to Respondent's law license being suspended for one

(1) year pursuant to Rule 3 .15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure; that

Respondent would then complete an additional nine (9) hours of continuing legal
education before reinstatement, during the current reporting period, three (3) hours
which should be in IOLTA accounts and the other six (6) hours in ethics and office
management. The Respondent must then comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the
Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure

#### **B. FINDINGS OF FACT**

- 1. J Steven Hunter, (hereinafter "I" or "Hunter"), West Virginia State Bar 1826, graduated from the West Virginia University College of Law in 1973 and under the diploma privilege was admitted to practice in the state of West Virginia in May 1973. I have been a practicing lawyer for fifty (50) years. I graduated from Frankford High School in Greenbrier County in 1965. I graduated from the WVU College of Agriculture and Forestry in 1970. During my education years I served as State President of the West Virginia Association of the Future farmers of America 1965-1966. I served two terms as Speaker of the House of the WVU Student body Legislature in 1967-1969. I was a member and officer of Sphinx and Mountain, men's Honorary's.. [Hrg. Tr. at 33].
- 2. Upon admission to the bar, J Steven Hunter located in Marlinton, Pocahontas County West Virginia and began private practice of law with Eugene M Simmons. Upon the advice of Judge Nickelll Kramer moved into my own practice in November 1973. I

was engaged in a general practice of law. It included property law, criminal law, divorce, estate law, civil tort liability, wills, deeds and the usual matters brought to a small town country lawyer. I served as a Commissioner of Accounts beginning in June of 1973 to July of 1985. I currently serve as a Fiduciary Commissioner in Greenbrier County. I served as court appointed Federal Public Defenders Panel in the Southern District of West Virginia for nearly twenty (20) years. [Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]

- 3. In 1975, at the request of certain citizens I ran for public office as a member of the Pocahontas County Commission and was elected¹ and served two years until I was ultimately elected Prosecuting Attorney for Pocahontas County and served two four year terms. I was elected and served as Chair of the Region IV Planning and Development Council in Summersville, WV. I was active in the West Virginia Association of County Officials. I was a Charter Board Member of the Mountain Transit Authority. We developed public transportation in a five-county area in 1972 and MTA still provides a valuable community service today. [Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]
- 4. In 1985, I was selected and appointed to serve as General Counsel for the West Virginia Public Service Commission and moved to Charleston, West Virginia. I served as General Counsel. I resigned upon a change of Governors. I then returned to Greenbrier County and began practicing in February 1989. I have been engaged in the general practice of law in Greenbrier County since then.[Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]
- While living in Pocahontas County with my wife DeEtta King Hunter, I was active in many community, civic organizations and government functions. I served in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>At the time, I was the youngest elected County Commissioner in West Virginia.

Marlinton Rotary club and served as President of the same. He was a member of the Marlinton Jaycees. I was President of the Marlinton Chamber of Commerce. I was active with the Pocahontas Development Authority and served as Chair of the same for several years. I and my wife were supporters of various civic groups and organizations while in Pocahontas County. I served on the Advisory Council for the Buckskin Council of the Boy Scouts of America for over fifteen years.[Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]

6 DeEtta King Hunter is Hunter's wife and has been since February 10, 1979.

Over those years DeEtta worked in my law office with and without pay. The only periods that she had not been in my office most of the time was when she served as Mayor of Lewisburg. Since the retirement of my long time paralegal, Barbara Dailey in 2019, she has been working without pay in the office of Steve Hunter Assoc. L.C. and to satisfy the Secretary of State she was designated as Secretary-Treasurer but of course has no stock ownership. She has a Bachelors degree in political science and accounting from Fairmont State and Masters of Public Administration from West Virginia University. Unfortunately, she developed a close personal relationship with Raymond Peters and Karen Bordonaro. This led to too much involvement and concern for the lack of care for Raymond Peters. [Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]

7. Mr. Stephen Peters counsel sent a letter concerning contact by Mrs. Hunter with Mr. Raymond Peters. My office had contacted the guardian ad litem telephonically over concerns expressed by Ms. Bordonaro (wife of Raymond Peters per marriage by Judge Dent in Greenbrier County) over the care Mr. Peters was and was not receiving from his guardian and conservator. She requested Wellness checks by State Trooper Cooper and Amelia wins by. After the one incident when Mr. McCallister came and

asked her to leave, DeEtta with Raymond Peters had no further contact and he died alone in his home. Mr. Hunter admonished Mrs. Hunter, but. she is a caring, compassionate and intelligent adult and Mr. Hunters wife. [Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]

- 8. Mr. Raymond Peters passed away November 23, 2020. A copy of his death certificate noted he appeared to be malnourished at the time they discovered his body, and as affirmed by Lantz Funeral Home who handled the arrangements. Only when I called Kyle Lusk on December 2, 2020 did we know Raymond Peters was dead. I in turn advised Raymond Peters wife, Karen Bordonaro that her husband had died and been buried.. Mr Lusk and Hunter had been attempting to settle the matter. The full sum of \$5,000.00 received by the Hunter Law firm was repaid to the estate. A Will contest and Divorce action are still pending in the Summers County Circuit Court and Summers County Family Court. [Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]
- 10. I have provided service to thousands of clients in my fifty years of practice. I have held public office. DeEtta and I have always been active supporters of many organizations that are for the betterment of the communities in which we have lived and continue to do so. The Hunters have contributed time, money and energy to charitable, religious and civic organizations. DeEtta Hunter served not only as the first female Mayor of Lewisburg but also as a Member of City Council. She was a member of the Governor's Commission on the Arts for 13 years.[Hrg. Tr. at 344-350]
- 11. I admit I made mistakes in handling the Peter's matter and it became marital issue. It is ironic that I happened to read my Horoscope while attempting to finalize the

filing of Proposed Findings of Fact .with the Hearing Panel <sup>2</sup> I do not control the situation now that is a matter for the Court.

12. I had hoped to retire, but this matter has prevented that. As the Office of Disciplinary Counsel told me that I would have to agree to disbarment to do so. I do not want to die with that on my record.

#### C. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A most recent case Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Schillace (W. Va. 2022) "No. 20-0233 clearly sets forth the legal issues in these matters. It's syllabus points are as follows:

1. "A de novo standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record made before the [Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board ("HPS")] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [HPS's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the [HPS's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." Syllabus Point 1, LDB v. Cain, 245 W.Va. 693, 865 S.E.2d 95 (2021) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Comm. on Legal Ethics v. McCorckle, 192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Regardless of how you feel today, it is important for you to own up to your mistakes. Keep in mind that you are always responsible for your actions. No matter how much you might want to shrink away, it is important for you to stand up and admit your weaknesses. Take bold action today in which you command control of the situation and hold yourself responsible for the consequences that ensue."

- 2. "This Court is the final arbiter of legal ethics problems and must make the ultimate decisions about public reprimands, suspensions, or annulments of attorneys' licenses to practice law." Syllabus Point 2, LDB v. Cain, 245 W.Va. 693, 865 S.E.2d 95 (2021) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Comm. on Legal Ethics v. Blair, 174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984)).
- 3. "Rule 3.16 of the West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure enumerates factors to be considered in imposing sanctions and provides as follows: (1) whether the lawyer has violated a duty owed to a client, to the public, to the legal system or to the profession; (2) whether the lawyer acted intentionally, knowingly or negligently; (3) the amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and (4) the existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors." Syllabus Point 4, Off. Law. Disc. Couns. v. Jordan, 204 W.Va. 495, 513 S.E.2d 722 (1998).